Petitioner's Initial Brief

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 73,214

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant

VS .

T. CARLTON RICHARDSON,

Respondent

Petition for Review of Report of The Honorable Thomas E. Penick, Jr., Referee

> T. Carlton Richardson, J.D., LL.M. Petitioner, Pro Se 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, SE Washington, D.C. 20003 (202) 347-4466

The RICHARDSON Law Offices (DC, FL, MD) 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

	<page></page>

STATEMENT OF CASE

This Review involves the recommendation by the Referee that the *kespondent* be found guilty of charging a "clearly excessive fee" in violation of disciplinary rule 4-1.5 ("Fees for Legal Services"). This is actually a fee dispute case by dissatisfied clients against their former attorney claiming an overpayment for services rendered by the attorney.

<u>Overview</u>

In November, 1982, Mrs. Perry Jones, the principal complaning client, consulted with Respondent regarding the preparation on an estate plan. Respondent's practice concentrates in estate planning for working and middle income individuals, a subject on which he is published and is a frequent lecturer to lay and professional groups. In March, 1983, Mrs. Jones and her husband, Roosevelt Jones, Sr., the co-complainant, consulted with Respondent regarding preparation of their estate plan. While collecting information regarding the financial condition of the clients, it was discovered that Mr. Jones owned an undivided 1/3 interest in unimproved land whose title was not clear and that Mrs. Jones had an interest, the nature of which was unclear, to some improved property.

During the initial consultation and subsequent conferences with the clients, the services were extended to include: (1) verification of ownership interest of Mrs. Jones' one-third interest to real estate in Key West, Florida, which she had inherited, (2) clearing the title to approximately three (3) acres owned in common by Mr. Jones as an intestate co-beneficiary

3

The mCHAndSOLEdwo Omces (DC, FL, MD) 505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. ¹ashington, DC 20003 02) 347-4466 of a one-third (1/3rd) interest as a result of the death of his aunt, Leula King, for the purpose of acquisition at below appraised value and further small scale real estate development of the parcel after acquisition, (3) resolving a consumer problem regarding the repair of the clients' automobile, (4) arranging partial financing of the client's acquisition costs of the said 3 (three) acre tract, and (5) handling the administration and settlement of the Leula King Estate in the Probate Division ("probate court") of the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida involving determination of homestead, sale of the 3 (three) acre tract to the Jones' son, collection of taxes paid by the Joneses' on the 3 (three) acre tract. (Estate administration was chosen instead of quiet title action and partition suit.)

The fee arrangement provided for a base or minimum fee plus costs but when the nature, extent and scope of services rendered exceeded the base or minimum fee converted to hourly rates per the arrangement and clients understanding. Se, Transcript at 224, line 20 to 225, lines 1, 10-13. [Cited: TR (page):(line)] The clients were advised of the fee agreement which involved a minimum fee of \$1,250. Fee contracts were signed regarding the estate planning and administration (Estate of Leula King). While the contracts were separate it was really all one transaction because the sole purpose of the estate administration ("title clearing") contract was to assure that the clients received some contribution from the King Estate for their legal fees in clearing the title to the unimproved land. See, TR 249:10-13 The clients were advised that should the base (minimum) fee be ex-

4

sor**ten** omes (defit, Ma)

1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 202) 347-4466 ceeded that the standard hourly rates would apply and that they were the guarantors of any fee in estate administration and would be reimbursed from the King Estate whatever the court awarded. At the first visit the client received, in addition to copies of the fee contract, a statement of fee policy and "You and Your Lawyer", a pamphlet that explains the reciprocal duties and responsibilities of the attorney/client relationship. It is the policy of the Respondent to make a full and complete disclosure of the fee arrangement and nature and extent of services to be rendered.

During the period of representation, the services rendered went beyond estate planning and administration and involved consumer problems regarding an automobile repair, assistance in obtaining a bank loan part of which was used by clients to buy a car and pay their legal invoices, land planning and development of the unimproved land, and some financial planning. See, TR 233:8-234:18 The Attorney's purpose is commencing probate of the King Estate was to clear title to the land without filing a quiet title/partition action and to obtain the land for the clients at below market value since the clients had managed the property for over 50 years and paid taxes and received very little rent off of the land.

The Billing Process

Respondent issued invoices on account of services under the King Estate/Title Clearing contract (i.e. probate related services) dated March 19, August 14, September 26, 1984, and February 2, March 27, May 5, and June 26, 1985; and invoices on

ThernCHAmDSOM and Onnes (DC, FL, MD) 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

account of services under the Estate Planning contract (i.e. nonprobate services) dated February 23 and July 3, 1984. Payments were made on both accounts from the personal funds of the Perry L. and/or Roosevelt Jones with checks executed by Perry L. Jones from bank accounts at Freedom Savings or Community Federal S&L.

The payments made and allocations to costs and fees for services rendered by Respondent to the Jones(s) for services related to the administration and settlement of the King Estate were as follows:

] Date	Check No.	Payment Amount (\$)	Alloca Fees (\$) _	tion Costs (\$) _	Total YTD Payments (\$)]
3/31/83	141 <u>a</u> /	500.00	500.00	-0-	500.00
4/20/84	95 <u>b</u> /	1,425.00	1,300.00	125.00	1,925.00
8/20/84	101	1,380.07	1,213.20	166.87	3,305.07
9/28/84	103	695.93	562.25	133.68	4,001.00
3/04/85	106	956.24	628.85	327.39 <u>c</u> /	4,957.24
4/18/85	156	261.07	261.07		5,218.31
7/05/85	177	1,525.09	1,243.62	281.47	6,734.40
TOTALS		6,734.40	5,708.99	1,034.41	6,734.40

TABLE OF PAYMENTS

Notes to Table

6

a--Actual amount of check was \$1,335. There was a split allocation of the amount, \$500 went to this account, and the remainder (\$835.00) went to the other account #42-183 for estate planning/general services.

b--Actual amount of check was \$1,934.93. There was a split allocation of the amount, \$1,425 went to this account, the remainder (\$509.93) went to the other account #42-183 for estate planning/general services.

inson**nu**, ofines (Derri, Ma)

CHA

1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

c--\$250 of costs constituted a direct payment to Henry Shell for appraisal fee, the remainder (\$77.93) were case costs invoiced on February 2, 1985.

The time consumed under standard billing guidelines was 55.22 hours of attorney services and 58.47 hours of support staff and clerical). The billing guidelines (paralegal were established by the Respondent and constitutes a part of the Office Manual. On account for services rendered by Respondent to the Jones(s) for estate planning and other services were in summary, as follows:

> 2,718.90 Total payments received\$ **A**/

> B/ Total payments applied to service 2,268.11 fees.....

C/ 450.49 Total payments applied to costs..... The time consumed was 25.33 hours of attorney servic s and support staff services of 5.85, paralegal, and 24.25 clerical.

On March 31, 1983 the Jones(s) made a payment to Respondent in the amount of \$1,335.00 (One Thousand Three Hundred and Thirty-Five Dollars) by check # 141 from Freedom Savings which was applied to their two legal services accounts as follows:

> \$500 to Case # 43-183 (King Estate/Title Clearing) Α/

B/ \$835 to Case # 42–183 (Estate Planning)

On April 20, 1984 the Jones(s) made a payment to Respondent in amount of \$1,934.93 (One Thousand Nine hundred and Thirtythe and 93/100 Dollars) by check #95 from Community Federal S&L Four which was applied to their two legal services accounts as follows:

bson**tativ** of the (Derit, MB)

[505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Nashington, DC 20003 202) 347-4466

505

A/Case # 43-183 (King Estate/Title \$1.425 on

Clearing)

B/ \$509.93 on Case # 42-183 (Estate Planning) The total amount of payments made to Respondent by the Jones(s) on account of all legal services was 9,462.30 (Nine Thousand Four Hundred and Sixty-Two and 30/100 Dollars) consisting of total service fees in the amount of \$7,977.10 (Seven Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Seven and 10/100 Dollars) and total costs in the amount of \$1,485.20 (One Thousand Four Hundred and Eighty-Five and 20/100 Dollars), which includes a \$250.00 direct payment of Henry Shell as an appraisal fee. These total payments were made

as fol	lows:	Schedule of Payments		
	Check No.	Probate (Case # 43-183)	Non-Probate (Case #42-183)	
(141 3/31/83)	\$ 500.00	\$ 835.00	
(548 3/23/84)		100.00	
(95 4/20/84)	1,425.00	509.93	
(97 7/17/84)		1,273.97	
(101 8/20/84)	1,380.07		
(103 9/29/84)	695.93		
(106 3/04/85)	956.24		
(156 4/18/85)	261.07		
(177 7/05/85)	1,525.09		
Г	otals	\$ 6,743.40	\$ 2,718.90	

8

The CHARLESON Dave Offices (DC, TL, MD) 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466 Over the two year period of representation from March, 1983 to June, 1985, the clients were rendered eight (8) invoices for the services rendered. A few months prior to the termination of services, Mrs. Jones became concerned at the cost of the legal services. An office visit was arranged and she came along with her pastor (and maybe their son since he was also involved with the clients in the matter). At that visit the Respondent explained to both the pastor and the clients the services and charges and what was and would be involved to complete the matter. The client appeared satisfied with the explanation and the services continued.

When the next (and final bill was rendered May 5, 1985 the client called and stated that the services were terminated and that they would satisfy the final bill and collect their file records. This they did. The Respondent throughout the representation because of the continuing nature of the relationship discounted some of the charges as the some invoices show. At the time of service termination, however, the Respondent was not aware that the clients had obtained other counsel, although they were advised to do so, nor that they had contracted with the other counsel on an oral contingent fee arrangement of 25% to collect for overpayments they felt were made under the legal services contract. At no time prior to the filing of this complaint with the Bar did the clients raise the issue of overpayment. The Respondent always maintained an open, caring and accommodating relationship with the clients.

9

The HCHAMDSON BLW Offices (DCFTL, M 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

Land Acauisition and the Probate Process

Up to time of discharge in June, 1985, the Respondent had obtained the clients objectives. When discharged, a draft of the petition for sale of real estate to the client's son and proposed ordered was prepared which was turned over the the clients and transmitted to their new counsel, Charles Wilson, Esq., who used them to obtain the sale to the clients. Attorney Wilson received as fees for his services from the King Estate the amount of \$750.00, he also received an additional amount of \$300 to handle the transactions from the clients to their son. See, TR 371:7-13 The Respondent's procedure would have been a direct sale in probate to the son. The probate land sale occurred in November, 1985, for \$18,000 bringing cash into the Estate for the first time, and then in the sale to the client's son in February, 1986 who in turn sold the land in February, 1987 for \$22,000, a \$4,000 profit in only 13 months or a 22% profit. See, TR:270:20-25, 271:1-6.

Attorney Wilson testified that he had a contingent fee arrangement with the clients for collection of any fee refund but did not recall if it were oral or written, further that he used the workproduct of the Respondent in preparing the petition for sale, and made no mention of the additional \$300 received as compensation for the real estate transaction from the Joneses to their son. TR 167:14 to 170:13; 175:6-15. The clients' offered to settle their claim against the Attorney for \$3,000. See, TR 179:6-7.

The final account filed in the King Estate failed to include

BSON THE ORIGE (DETT. ME)

1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 202) 347-4466 the clients' claim for back taxes nor did it include the rents collected off the property. See, TR:192:8-21, 172:18 to 173:14. The Respondent never received any fees from the estate. See, TR 173:19-25.

The Probate Court of Hillsborough County, Judge F. Dennis Alvarez, presiding, on February 6, 1986 considered objections to the fees proposed to be paid under the Final Account of the personal representative, Roosevelt Jones, to Respondent. On February 3rd, 1986, Judge Alvarez entered an order determining the sum of \$2,500 constituted a reasonable fee for that the services of Respondent to the Estate of Leula King and that the Estate was to be responsible to pay that amount only. The Estate of Leula King has paid no fees to Respondent and Respondent as sought to collect no fees from the Estate of Leula King. The Probate Court record shows no summons or complaint being issued against the Respondent only notice of hearings. The Probate Court record further reveals that the Respondent was denied a hearing on his counterclaim filed in the proceedings and was not accorded a jury trial. Respondent was not called to testify in support of fee charged the clients at that hearing on objections to discharge and for reimbursement of attorney fees paid by the personal representative to Respondent out of estate funds. Respondent received no compensation out of estate funds, but was paid exclusively by checks signed by Perry Jones, the personal representative's wife, from a joint account with her husband, Roosevelt Jones, with Freedom Federal Savings and individual account at Community Federal S&L.

The Grievance Process

CHAMBSON Daw Offices

1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466 Four months after discharge in October 1985, the clients filed a grievance with The Florida Bar. A hearing was held before a panel of the Bar's Grievance Committee for the 13th Judicial Circuit. "The grievance committee is the Bar's 'grand jury'...and proceedings before [it] are nonadversarial in nature.

*** If the grievance committee finds probable cause, then formal adversarial proceedings, which ordinarily lead to disposition by the Supreme Court of Florida, will be commenced..." See, Notice, Grievance Procedures, The Florida Bar. The grievance committee hearing is not a part of the investigatory process, but is the preliminary adjudicatory proceeding. During the deliberations of the Attorney's grievance committee panel, an assistant Bar Counsel was present and did participate to some extent. Further, the entire grievance committee has no members of the Afro-American community and thus the Respondent's panel could not have included such members either as lay or attorney members. During the show cause hearing, the grievance committee panel received evidence of the probate refund proceedings.

Proceedings Before Referee

The Florida's Bar's case consisted, in part of, testimony and documentary evidence of the probate court's proceedings, and testimony of John A. Jones, Esq., a member of the law firm of Holland and Knight. Judge Alvarez was the chief witness for the former evidence who stated that he considered all services rendered by the Respondent, whether probate or not, and included that in his determination of a reasonable fee:

ares (Der IL, MD)

CHARDSON Daw

1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.I Washington, DC 20003 202) 347-4466

"(I)n reviewing the whole matter I ruled that all services provided by Mr. Richardson were

in fact related to the estate and were not related to estate planning. And I felt that the \$2,500.00, notwithstanding the fact that there was a contract, was sufficient to provide services in this estate and also for any services that he might have provided for estate planning." TR 65:12-19

Judge Alvarez further acknowledged that the Respondent never received any compensation from estate funds. See, TR 78:17-25, 79, 80:1-16.

Attorney Jones testified that the hourly rates of the member of his firm with the professional training and experience of the Attorney would range from \$125 to \$200 per hour. TR 110:8-14. He further testified that time was not a factor in his determination that the fee charge was excessive:

> "...I looked at what appears to have been done and accomplished. And how much time or effort was, how much time you spent on it <u>is not</u> <u>necessary tc the way that I would gauge my judge-</u> <u>ment</u> as to the reasonableness of the services performed." TR 114:21 to 115:1

See, also, TR 120:2-15, and that the costs charged "do not seem to be unreasonable". See, TR 117:23-24. Attorney Jones testified that as to the estate planning services this was "in a field of law which I must admit I'm not familiar with". See, TR 126:7-8

isson**ten**, o**mes** (perio, me)

The CHARTSON TANK 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

1. USE OF TAINTED OR ILLEGAL EVIDENCE.

The mCHAmDSON Law Onces (DC, FL, MD) 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

That the 13C Grievance Committee an Referee relied upon incompetent and/or improper documentary and testimonial evidence from void and illegal proceedings in the Probate Division of the Hillsborough County Circuit Court, Hon. F. Dennis Alvarez, presiding dealing with probate court's judgment ordering the Respondent to refund to the Estate of Leula King compensation that did no come from the Estate received by Respondent under an attorney fee contract with the Estate's personal representative and his wife, who initially filed a grievance with the Florida Bar, for estate and non-estate services. The Respondent contends the probate court's proceedings, being by statute "in rem" (Fla. Stat. 731.105), could not be had since the Respondent received no funds from the Estate, his fee contract being an arrangement between he Respondent and his clients which the Estate had no interest, the fee contract being no asset of the Estate nor obligation of the Estate. The Respondent further contends that the proceedings are violative of his 14th Amendment (U.S. Constitution) rights to due process and equal protection of the laws, since the Respondent was never summoned before the probate court according to law, was denied a hearing and was unable to prosecute a counterclaim in the probate proceedings, and was denied a right to trial by jury. Further, having been denied a "full and fair" opportunity to litigate the issues before the probate court, the Committee and the Referee were not precluded from disregarding the judgment and the evidence presented in support

thereof.

The michards ON Law Offices (DC, FL, MD) 1505 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20003 (202) 347-4466

That the testimonial and documentary evidence at the Final Hearing before the Referee was unreliable (1) since the Florida Bar's attorney witness should have been disqualified on grounds of a conflict of interest since the attorney's partner serves on the Florida Bar's Board of Governors and, further, the attorney's testimony revealed serious deficiencies in the attorney's legal knowledge of the subject of representation by the Respondent in estate planning, application of appropriate legal standards, and background preparation that formed the predicate for the attorney's opinion; (2) since Judge Alvarez's testimony was inaccurate and patently false, demonstrated an abuse of judicial discretion, and showed that the Judge relied upon false and misleading court documents (e.g. a final account with unreported estate income) in making his rulings; and (3) since the complaining client's testimony revealed she testified incorrectly at the probate court proceedings regarding the number and source of payments for estate services made to the Respondent out of the client's personal funds and that she and her new attorney(s) had a oral contingent fee arrangement to collect the claim for alleged overpayment.

2. INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AND FINDINGS.

The Referee had insufficient "clear and convincing" evidence of professional misconduct, failed to make specific findings applying the factors under the Bar Rule governing excessive fee claims, and failed to apply his findings to the legal concepts of overreaching and/or unconscionability. This omission was an

abuse of discretion and demonstrated a manifest disregard of the law.

3. LACK OF DUE PROCESS--THE GRIEVANCE PANEL PROCEEDINGS.

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