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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent contends that his due process rights were violated because the Grievance Committee panel in this cause was biased or prejudiced against him since there were no Afro-Americans on the panel; since Bar Counsel was present and participated in the Grievance Committee's deliberation regarding probable cause in this case for further disciplinary proceedings; and since void documents were introduced into evidence during the Grievance Committee hearing. The Respondent's challenge of the Grievance Committee proceedings is untimely in light of Rule 3-7.4(a) (b), <u>Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.</u> and The Respondent should have appealed the Grievance Committee proceedings to The Florida Bar Board of Governors' Designated Reviewer for the "13C" Grievance Committee. Further, based on the Respondent's own statements during the disciplinary proceedings before the Referee in this case, the Grievance Committee panel members were not prejudiced against the Respondent in any way.

The Respondent also challenges the Referee's finding that the Respondent charged the Joneses a clearly excessive fee and his recommendation that the Respondent be found guilty of violating DR 2-106 (an attorney shall not charge a clearly excessive fee). The aforementioned finding that the Respondent charged a clearly excessive fee and recommendation of guilt as to

DR 2-106 is supported by the the testimony of the Bar's expert witness in this case, John Arthur Jones, and is further supported by the Probate Court's ruling in the same regard.

In addition, the Respondent argues that the Referee's recommended discipline of a public reprimand, probation, continuing legal education on the subject of attorney billing and fee practices, and restitution is inappropriate in this case. A public reprimand is the minimum discipline that can be imposed against the Respondent since this case is not based on а Complaint of Minor Misconduct. (See Rule 3-7.5 (k)(1), Rules <u>Regulating the Florida Bar</u>). Further, a public reprimand is appropriate in order to deter other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct. Continued legal education and probation is appropriate in this case in light of the Respondent's statements during the disciplinary hearing in this cause that he has the right to set whatever fee standards he desires without. interference from The Florida Bar. The evidence in this case shows that the Respondent's billing practices are eqregious and highly improper. The Respondent is apparently unfamiliar with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, and therefore continuing legal education is a necessity and probation must be imposed so that the Respondent's billing practices can be monitored. Restitution is this case is appropriate since the Respondent's fee was exhorbitant and constituted a misappropriation of the Jones' funds. The Respondent took advantage of the Jones' age and naivety in the area of Estate Planning and Administration of

Estates. The Respondent should be required to reimburse to the Joneses the sum of \$15,670.00 as ordered by Judge Alvarez in the Probate proceedings.

Further, the Respondent challenges the Referee's recommendation that the Respondent should pay the Bar's costs in this proceeding. The Florida Bar's costs in this case are in accordance with Rule 3-7.5(k)(1), <u>Rules Regulating The Florida</u> Bar, as amended on April 20, 1989, and should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

THE RESPONDENT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED DURING THE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE PROCEEDINGS OR THE REFEREE PROCEEDINGS IN THIS CAUSE.

The Respondent argues that his due process rights were violated in this case because the Grievance Committee panel was either biased, prejudiced or lacked impartiality since the panel excluded members of the Afro-American community. The Respondent raised this same argument during the Referee proceedings in this cause and during the course of the argument, the Respondent stated:

"I'm not arguing, your Honor, that the women and the men who sat on my panel did not give their best, I'm not arguing that they were in any way prejudiced toward me...". (TR5,p.26,L.19-22).

Based on the Respondent's statement above, the Grievance Committee panel was not prejudiced or bias against the Respondent and therefore the aforementioned argument is without merit.

The Respondent also contends that his due process rights were violated because the Grievance Committee panel was either biased, prejudiced, or lacked impartiality since Bar counsel attended and participated in the deliberations of the Grievance Committee in regard to a finding of probable cause for further disciplinary proceedings, without allowing the Respondent and his

counsel to observe the delibertions. The Respondent's due process rights were not violated. Contrary to the Respondent's contention, Bar counsel did not participate in the Grievance Committee deliberations on the merits of the case. Bar Counsel was present during the Grievance Committee's deliberation in order to assist the committee in its administrative duties in accordance with Rule $3-7.3^{(e)}$, <u>Rules Regulating the Florida Bar</u> which states in part as follows:

"Staff counsel shall assist each Grievance Committee in carrying out its investigative and administrative duties..."

During the Grievance Committee's deliberation in this case, Bar counsel advised the Committee on questions regarding procedural issues and read and interpreted the Disciplinary Rules being considered by the Committee pursuant to the Grievance Committee Notice of Hearing. Bar counsel did not vote on the issue of probable cause. (R. Complainant's Answer To Request For Admissions, paragraph 20) 🛯 Based on the foregoing, the Respondent's due process rights were not violated and the Grievance Committee panel was not prejudiced against the Respondent due to Bar Counsel's presence during the Committee's deliberation in this case.

In addition the Respondent argues that his due process rights were violated because the Grievance Committee panel was biased, prejudiced or lacked impartiality since the panel received in evidence, documents from the Probate file on The Estate of Lula King, which the Respondent contends were void

since the Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to issue Orders requiring the Respondent to refund excessive fees paid by Mr. Jones for the Respondent's services. The Respondent's argument is without merit. The issue of whether or not the Probate Court had jurisdiction to order the Respondent to reimburse the Estate of Lula King excessive fees is not relevant to this proceeding. Furthermore, the Second District Court of Appeals found that the Probate Court was correct in ordering the Respondent to repay excessive fees to the Estate of Lula King. (R. Bar Exhibit 16). The documents that the Grievance Committee panel received in evidence and considered in this case have not, at any time, been declared void by any Court in this State. (R. Bar Exhibit 16, 19 (a) through 19(d)). Based on the foregoing, Respondent's due proceess rights were not violated during the Grievance Committee proceedings in this cause.

Further, the Respondent's challenge of the Grievance Committee proceeding in this case is untimely. According to Rule 3-7.4(a)(1) and (b), <u>Rules Regulating the Florida Bar</u>, the Respondent should have appealed the Grievance Committee proceedings to the Florida Bar Board of Govenors' Designated Reviewer for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee 'C'

Based on the foregoing, the Respondent's challenge of the Grievance Committee proceeding is untimely, and should not be considered by this Court. However, regardless of this fact, the Respondent's due process rights were not violated since the

Grievance Committee panel was not prejudiced or biased against the Respondent.

The Respondent also argues that his due process righs were violated during the Referee proceedings because the Referee admitted into evidence the Orders and Judgments (R. Bar Exhibits 14, 15, 17 and 20) of Judge Alvarez from the Probate proceedings. As previously set forth, the Respondent contends that Judge Alvarez' Orders and Judgments relating to the Respondent's charging an excessive fee for his services to the Estate of Lula King were void since the Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to enter the same. The Respondent further claims that the Referee's actions in permitting the documents to be introduced into evidence constitutes reversible error.

The Respondent's argument is without merit. As previously stated, none of Judge Alvarez's Orders or Judgments have been declared void by any Court in this State. In addition, the Second District Court of Appeals held that Judge Alvarez had jurisdiction to order the Respondent to refund excessive attorney fees to the Joneses. (R. Bar Exhibit 16). Furthermore, the Orders and Judgments of Judge Alvarez were relevant to the case sub judice since this case is based on the Probate proceedings before Judge Alvarez relating to the Respondent's fees to the Estate of Lula King. The testimony of Judge Alvarez during the Final Hearing in this cause was also relevant, in that the Referee needed to have an understanding of how Judge Alvarez calculated the Respondent's fee in the Estate of Lula King to be \$10,550.99.

Based on the foregoing Respondent's due process rights were not violated during the Grievance Committee proceedings or the Referee proceedings in this cause. THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT CHARGED HIS CLIENTS A CLEARLY EXCESSIVE FEE AND THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT AS TO DR 2-106 IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The Respondent challenges the Referee's finding that he charged his clients a clearly excessive fee. This finding by the Referee is supported by clear and convincing evidence.

On March 31, 1983, the Respondent entered into a Legal Services Agreement with Roosevelt Jones in regard to the matter of: The Estate of Lula King (Real Estate Title Clearing). The Legal Services Agreement provided that Mr. Jones would pay the Respondent an origination fee of \$500.00 to commence services and a commission of ten percent (10%) of the gross value of the Estate. (R. Bar Exhibit 1). The Respondent testified that the \$500.00 origination fee was to be applied against the base fee which was the ten percent (10%) commission. (TR3,p.378,L.5-7).

The gross value of the Estate of Lula King was \$22,000.00. (R. Bar Exhibit 9(a)). Therefore, \$2,200.00 was the maximum fee that the Respondent was entitled to receive on the Legal Services Agreement with Roosevelt Jones, dated March 31, 1983.

The Respondent charged Roosevelt Jones a minimum of \$8,018.49 for administering the Estate of Lula King and for clearing the title to the property in the Estate, which was the sole asset of the Estate. (R. Bar Exhibit 4(a) thru 4(f), 5, and 14, paragraph 3).

The Respondent testified during the Final Hearing in this cause that the Legal Services Agreement regarding the matter of:

The Estate of Lula King (real estate title clearing) was a side contract to the Legal Services Agreement between Mr. and Mrs. Jones dated March 31, 1983 in regard to the Jones' Estate Planning. (TR3,p.379,L.3-5). Respondent also testified that the ten percent (10%) commission provided for in the Legal Services Agreement regarding the Estate of Lula King was a minimum fee. Respondent further testified that once the commission amount (\$2,200.00) was exceeded according to his hourly rate of \$85.00 per hour, he was entitled to the excess fee pursuant to the Legal Services Agreement regarding the Jones' Estate Planning. (TR3,p.378,L.11-17).

The aforementioned testimony by the Respondent is in conflict with both of the Respondent's Legal Services Agreements with the Joneses. The Legal Services Agreement with Roosevelt Jones in regard to the Estate of Lula King does not set forth a notation that the ten percent (10%) commission was a minimum fee. (TR3,p.384,L.12-14; R. 1). In addition, the Bar Exhibit Agreement did not set forth a notation that once the Respondent's time and services exceeded the commission, that the Respondent would be entitled to \$85.00 per hour. (TR3,p.379,L.13-15; R. Bar Exhibit 1). Further, the Legal Services Agreement for the Estate of Lula King did not set forth a notation that the Agreement was part and parcel to the Legal Services Agreement regarding the Jones' Estate Planning. (TR3,p.379,L.16-19; R. Bar Exhibit 1).

In regard to the Legal Services Agreement relating to the Jones' Estate Planning, the Agreement provided for an initial

consultation fee of \$85.00; an origination fee of \$750.00 to commence services; and a minimum fee of \$1,250.00. (R. Bar Exhibit 2). Although the Legal Services Agreement for the Jones' Estate Planning stated that there would be a minimum fee of \$1,250.00, it should be noted that immediately following said provision was the phrase "or prevailing hourly rates, whichever is GREATER". This portion of the agreement was crossed out and evidences the fact that the Respondent was not charging the Joneses on a hourly basis, but rather was charging a maximum fee of \$1,250.00 for the Jones' Estate Planning. The Agreement also failed to reflect the Respondent's position that the Legal Services Agreement regarding the Estate of Lula King was part and parcel to the Agreement for Estate Planning. (R. Bar Exhibit 2). The Respondent charged the Joneses approximately \$1,444.93 for their Estate Planning. (See Appendix Exhibit 1). The total fee which the Respondent collected from the Joneses for his services relating to the Estate of Lula King, the Jones' Estate Planning, and for General Services was \$9,462.30. (R. Bar Exhibits 3, 4(a)-4(g), 5, 8(a)-8(i)). (See Appendix Exhibit 1). This sum was more than one-half of the Jones' income for one (1) year.

Integration Rule 11.02(4), <u>Code of Professional</u> <u>Responsibility</u>, which was in effect throughout the period of time that the Respondent represented the Joneses states as follows:

"...controversies as to the amount of fees are not grounds for disciplinary proceedings unless the amount demanded is clearly excessive, extortionate, or the demand is fraudulent."

During the Final Hearing in this cause, The Florida Bar called

John Arthur Jones as an expert witness. Mr. Jones was the only witness in this proceeding to be declared an expert in the field of Probate and Estate Planning.

John Arthur Jones reviewed the Probate file regarding the Estate of Lula King for approximately 2 hours; he reviewed the invoices submitted by the Respondent to Mr. and Mrs. Roosevelt Jones; he reviewed the Respondent's Schedule of Services (R. Bar Exhibits 6(a) and 6(b), and 7) for the period of March 21, 1983 through February 10, 1984, February 20, 1984 through June 30, 1984 and March 21, 1983 through January 4, 1986; he reviewed copies of all of the checks (R. Bar Exhibits 8(a)-8(i)), issued by Perry Jones to the Respondent for services rendered in relation to both Legal Services Agreements; he reviewed all of the pleadings (R. Bar Exhibits 9(a) = 9(q)) prepared by the Respondent in the Estate of Lula King; he reviewed the Legal Services Agreements (R. Bar Exhibits 1 and 2) between the Joneses and the Respondent; he reviewed the Will and Trust of Perry and Roosevelt Jones (R. Bar Exhibit 10) prepared by the Respondent; he reviewed the Power of Attorney and the Quitclaim Deed (R. Bar Exhibits 11 and 24) prepared by the Respondent for the Joneses; and he reviewed the Respondent's resume (R. Respondent Exhibit 6). (TR1, p. 96, L. 20-25, p. 97, L. 1-6 and 19-25, p. 98, L. 1-25, p. 99, L.1-18).

During the Final Hearing in this cause, John Arthur Jones testified that he was of the opinion that the Respondent charged the Joneses a clearly excessive fee. (TR1,p.102,L.23-25). John

Jones also testified that \$2,500.00 was a generous fee for the Respondent's services to the Estate of Lula Kinq (TR1,p.103,L.16); \$400.00 would be a generous fee for the Respondent's services regarding the Jones' Estate Planning (TR1,p.104,L.1); and \$200.00 would be ample for the Respondent's General Services to the Joneses (TR1,p.104,L.9). In addition, Mr. Jones testified that in reaching the opinion that the Respondent's fee was clearly excessive, he considered the following factors: the time and labor required for the Jones' Estate Planning and for probating the Estate of Lula King; the complexity of the matter; the likelihood that the acceptance of employment would preclude other employment; the fee the customarily charged in the locality for comparible services; the amount involved in the subject matter of the representation; the length of the professional relationship; nature and the experience, reputation, and ability of the Respondent; and whether or not the fee was fixed or contingent. (TR1, p.104, testified L.18-25, p.105, L.1-7). Mr. Jones also that the administration of the Estate of Lula King was not a complicated (TR1,p.105,L.10-12). Further, John Arthur matter. Jones testified as follows in response to questions propounded by the Respondent:

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